



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY J O U R N A L



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

Review

Deep metabolome: Applications of deep learning in metabolomics



Yotsawat Pomyen^a, Kwanjeera Wanichthanarak^{b,c}, Patcha Poungsombat^{b,c,d}, Johannes Fahrmann^{b,c,d,*} Dmitry Grapov^f, Sakda Khoomrung^{b,c,d,*}

^a Translational Research Unit, Chulabhorn Research Institute, Bangkok, Thailand

^b Metabolomics and Systems Biology, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok 10700, Thailand

^c Siriraj Metabolomics and Phenomics Center, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok 10700, Thailand

^d Center for Innovation in Chemistry (PERCH-CIC), Faculty of Science, Mahidol University, Rama 6 Road, Bangkok 10400, Thailand

e Department of Clinical Cancer Prevention, The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, 1515 Holcombe Boulevard, Houston, TX 77030, USA

^fCDS- Creative Data Solutions LLC, https://creative-data.solutions, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 July 2020 Received in revised form 21 September 2020 Accepted 21 September 2020 Available online 1 October 2020

Keywords: Metabolomics NMR Mass spectrometry Artificial neural network Deep learning

ABSTRACT

In the past few years, deep learning has been successfully applied to various omics data. However, the applications of deep learning in metabolomics are still relatively low compared to others omics. Currently, data pre-processing using convolutional neural network architecture appears to benefit the most from deep learning. Compound/structure identification and quantification using artificial neural network/deep learning performed relatively better than traditional machine learning techniques, whereas only marginally better results are observed in biological interpretations. Before deep learning can be effectively applied to metabolomics, several challenges should be addressed, including metabolome-specific deep learning architectures, dimensionality problems, and model evaluation regimes.

© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	2819		
2.	Landscape of deep learning in metabolomics	2819		
3.	DL in NMR spectra processing and interpretation	2819		
4.	DL in MS spectra processing and interpretation	2821		
5.	Biological data interpretation & integration with other 'omics			
6.	6. Future perspectives and beyond			
	6.1. Data integration applications are still lacking	2823		
	6.2. Dealing with the curse of dimensionality	2823		
	6.3. Specialized models for metabolomics data are needed	2823		
	6.4. Re-evaluating model validation	2824		
7.	Key points	2824		

* Corresponding author at: Metabolomics and Systems Biology, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok 10700, Thailand.

E-mail address: sakda.kho@mahidol.edu (S. Khoomrung).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.09.033

2001-0370/© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Abbreviations: AI, Artificial Intelligence; ANN, Artificial Neural Network; AUC, Area Under the receiver-operating characteristic Curve; CFM-EI, Competitive Fragmentation Modeling-Electron Ionization; CNN, Convolutional Neural Network; CCS value, Collision Cross Section value; DL, Deep Learning; DNN, Deep Neural Network; ECFP, Extended Circular Fingerprint; ER, Estrogen Receptor; FID, Free Induction Decay; FP score, Fingerprint correlation score; FTIR, Fourier Transform Infrared; GC–MS, Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry; HDLSS data, High Dimensional Low Sample Size data; IST, Iterative Soft Thresholding; istHMS, Implementation of IST at Harvard Medical School; LC-MS, Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry; LSTM, Long Short-Term Memory; ML, Machine Learning; MLP, Multi-layered Perceptron; MS, Mass Spectrometry; m/z, mass/ charge ratio; NEIMS, Neural Electron-Ionization Mass Spectrometry; NMR, Nuclear Magnetic Resonance; NUS, Non-Uniformly Sampling; PARAFAC2, Parallel Factor Analysis 2; ReLU, Rectified Linear Unit; RF, Random Forest; RNN, Recurrent Neural Network; SMARTS, SMILES arbitrary target specification; SMILES, Simplified Molecular-Input Line-Entry System; SRA, Sequence Read Archive; VAE, Variational Autoencoder.

Acknowledgements						
Appendix A.	Supplementary data	2824				
References						

1. Introduction

Machine learning (ML) or the concept of 'training' computational methods which can improve given more 'experience' or data has been a revolutionizing force in many disciplines, including metabolomics, for the last 15 years. In particular, deep learning (DL) [1], an ML method based on artificial neural networks (ANN) has been increasingly applied to problems in metabolomics, which are very difficult or infeasible for conventional algorithms to solve. For example, in nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and mass spectroscopy (MS) based metabolomics, a variety of ML algorithms have been developed for data pre-processing, peak identification, peak integration, compound identification/quantification, data analysis, and data integration [2-6]. ANNs are part of a broad family of ML algorithms that seek to learn rules/conditions from data examples, and in some cases can be 'automatically' improved through the sheer amount of data available to the model training process^[7]. Ease of use and accessibility of ANN and DL methods are increasing for the metabolomics community due to development of neural network frameworks (such as TensorFlow [8,9], Keras [10], PyTorch [11]), simplified interfaces to the frameworks through high-level programing languages (such as Python [12], R [13], MATLAB [14]), and reduction in model computational time through optimization using graphics processing units (GPUs), which can effectively parallelize complex tasks (e.g. matrix multiplication) and are readily available through stand-alone graphics cards in workstation-class machine or cloud computing services (Amazon Web Service [15], Google Cloud Platform [16], Microsoft Azure [17]).

ML is part of the broader domain of artificial intelligence (AI). In traditional programing, predefined sets of rules (i.e. algorithms) are applied to the data to produce desired output. However, in ML, a portion of data and examples of desired output are used to train a model (i.e. to derive rules from the data), which can then be applied to make predictions on other data. Unlike traditional ML methods that focus on feature engineering (i.e. transforming raw data into features that are relevant for machine learning models [18]), ANN and DL emphasize on tuning model hyperparameters. The ability of these methods to both encode and model the data removes a large bottleneck and source of potential bias for traditional ML algorithms. ANNs have simple structures consisting of three layers of neurons: input, hidden, and output layers. Each input neuron is connected to every hidden layer neuron by an edge which defines a weight and a bias. Inspired by how neurons function in the brain, each artificial neuron will emit (fire) a response depending on the activation function. For example, if a signal from an input layer neuron, combined with specific weight and bias, is higher than a certain threshold set by an activation function, then the neuron will send out a signal to the output layer [19]. ANN and DL models differ based on their architectures (i.e. number of layers and their connections) and structures with less than two hidden layers are called shallow ANNs, while more complicated architectures are found in the larger class of Deep Neural Network (DNN) which can be more expressive and efficient than their simpler ANN variants [20]. For reviews of introductory ANN and DL methodology, which is outside the scope of this review, we refer readers to other articles containing historical and methodological perspectives [21,22].

2. Landscape of deep learning in metabolomics

The number of publications from PubMed search results with DL as one of the keywords (as of May 2020) in genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics are shown in Fig. 1A. Note that the number of DL-associated publications in metabolomics are significantly lower than all other omics. The following review focuses on applications of 'Artificial Neural Networks', 'Deep Neural Networks' or 'Deep Learning' on MS or NMR based measurement of metabolites and small molecules and is divided into the three following domains: I) peak alignment and identification: II) structural/compound identification and quantification: and III) data analysis, interpretation, and integration with other omics (Fig. 1B). Numbers of hyperparameters of DL models used in these studies were calculated and shown in log-10 scale in Fig. 1C based on the number of neurons, number of neuron layers, and type of model architecture described in the studies. Notice that the number of parameters in data pre-processing applications are generally higher than other applications, and studies that used CNN architecture tend to have higher parameters than shallow ANN architecture. The most popular DL framework reviewed is Keras [10], which can use TensorFlow [8], Theano [23], or PlaidML [24] as backends to generate and run models. Python [25] were the most popular programming language interfaces for DL frameworks, followed by R [26] and MATLAB [27]. Close to half of the studies reviewed utilised GPUs (typically one GPU on a workstation-class machine). In addition to Keras, other DL frameworks used in metabolomic applications included: H2O.ai [28], MXNet [29], and MATLAB's Deep Learning Toolbox [30]. All reviewed frameworks, backends, programing languages, and types of processing units are summarised in Table 1. The data source (i.e. biological samples), data types, URLs for raw data access and code depositories of articles reviewed in this manuscript are summarised in Supplementary Table 1.

Convolutional neural networks (CNN) were the most often utilised DL model architecture across all metabolomics data pipeline steps. These models are often used in image processing due to their shift invariant characteristics and their application to metabolomic data varied across model complexities (e.g. numbers of neurons, hidden layers, filters, different types of optimizers, activation functions and loss functions). While many of the reviewed studies employed multiple types of neural networks in their work, including for different steps or performance comparisons, the non-linear rectified linear unit (ReLU) [31] was the most widely used activation function. This is not surprising because ReLU is generally the most widely used activation function particularly for CNNs [32] and may offer some advantages for dealing with the sparse nature of metabolomics data. All of the reviewed peak alignment applications included CNNs as the core architecture or part of the workflow. DL model architectures for other workflow steps included a mix of shallow ANN and other variants of DNN such as autoencoders and CNNs (Fig. 1C).

3. DL in NMR spectra processing and interpretation

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy is a prevalent technique for metabolomics analysis owning to its advantages i.e. non-destructive, fast, accurate, able to detect most of organic com-



Fig. 1. A) Number of publications with the keyword "deep learning" extracted from PUBMED database from 2015 to April 2020 in the genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics. B) Three categories of metabolomics application that have applied deep learning. C) Barplot of the number of parameters based on different neural network architectures and applications. RNN, recurrent neural network; CNN, convolutional neural network; ANN, shallow artificial neural network.

pounds, and highly reproducible when compared with MS [33,34]. The common step in NMR data handling begins with data preprocessing to transform the free induction decay (FID) to matrix of chemical shift and its intensity. The baseline correction, normalization, and alignment are subsequently performed before metabolite quantification and statistical analysis i.e. multivariate or univariate analysis [35]. NMR is widely used in metabolomics for both qualitative and quantitative analyses [36]. One-dimensional (1D) ¹H, and ¹³C NMR are the two most commonly used methods for measuring primary metabolites. Depending on structural complexity and surrounding environment of the compounds being measured (e.g. natural products), two-dimensional (2D) NMR is often considered as the technique of choice [37,38]. Although there are multiple steps of data processing and analysis, most applications of DL in metabolomics were for signal processing. This may be in part due to the large data requirements for DL for which simulation or synthetic data creation have been proposed [39]. Hansen (2019) proposed to use DNN to reconstruct non-uniformly sampling (NUS) NMR spectra. To improve accuracy in spectrum intensity, the author built DNN that was inspired by long short-term memory (LSTM) networks with a series of 8x10⁶ synthetic onedimensional FIDs (free induction decays) to reconstruct the DNN model. The model was later validated and compared against sparse multidimensional iterative lineshape-enhanced (SMILE), hmsIST algorithms by using the experimental ¹⁵N-¹H HSQC spectrum. The DL-based approach showed equally good or slightly better NMR spectra reconstruction results compared with current state of the field methods [40,41] proposed to use a CNN to reconstruct fast and high-quality NMR spectra of small and large (metabolites) and small proteins from fully simulated NMR data [41]. The model

Table 1

All reviewed frameworks, backends, programing languages, and types of processing units are summarised.

		Peak Alignment/ Identification	Compound and Structure Identification/ Quantification	Data Analysis/Omics Integration	Total
Framework**	Keras	2	5	3	10
	MXNet	0	0	1	1
	H2O*	0	0	2	2
	FANN/ RPROP	0	1	1	2
	DLT	1	2	0	3
Backend	TensorFlow	3	7	2	12
	Theano	0	1	1	2
	PyTorch	1	0	0	1
	MXNet	0	0	3	3
	Others	1	3	3	7
Programming	Python	4	8	3	15
Language	R	0	0	2	2
	MATLAB	1	2	0	3
	С	0	1	1	2

DLT = Deep Learning Toolbox in MATLAB, note that this also includes old implementation Neural Network Toolbox

Others = MATLAB toolboxes, RPROP

* Since 2018, H2O no longer uses MXNet or TensorFlow as backend. As these studies were conducted prior to 2018, we assumed (according to the source code) that the framework still employed default backend, which is Apache MXNet)

** Some studies employed TensorFlow directly as their framework in Python. Therefore, the number of studies in framework rows are not matched with number of Backend rows.

performance was validated with an input of 2D ¹H-¹⁵N HSQC spectrum with 25% NUS data quality against the fully sampled 2D and 3D spectra and obtained a correlation of peak intensities of 0.99. This model also displayed correlation coefficient greater than 0.98 to 2D spectra [41] even in low-density regions.

4. DL in MS spectra processing and interpretation

Mass spectrometry (MS)-based metabolomics measures the mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio and corresponding intensities of metabolite species in a sample. A raw MS data file of an individual sample contains a set of chromatograms recorded in sequence. Literally, each chromatogram, consisting of mass spectra or fingerprint of the detected metabolite represents the abundance of an ionized molecule [42]. Raw data files are subjected to a series of data processing steps and information extraction into an expression matrix (containing retention times, accurate mass spectrum and intensity values) of the measured metabolites for subsequent analyses [43].

Raw MS-based data processing is a critical step that can affect quality of downstream analyses and interpretation of metabolomics data. General MS data pre-processing steps include noise filtering, peak detection, peak alignment and normalization [44–46]. Data filtering is to remove or reduce analytical noise or baseline. Peak detection distinguishes real signals of measured molecules from noise. Peak (feature) alignment is an effort to correct retention time shift across different samples, and data normalization removes systematic variations between samples. Numerous free and commercial software are available for MS-based data processing such as MZmine [47], XCMS [45], metaMS [48], and metAlign [49], to name a few. However, key challenges, such as false positive signals, co-eluting compounds and non-linear retention time shift, still need to be addressed [50–52]. With the complexity of MS data, DL approaches have been proposed to solve this key data preprocessing step and major bottleneck of MS-based metabolomics pipelines. A study from Risum et al. [53] used CNN to classify different elution profiles from raw GC-MS chromatographic data. These profiles were initially modelled by PARAllel FACtor analysis2 (PARAFAC2) [50,54] and subsequently delineated into chemical peaks (metabolite), baselines and other non-related peak areas by the CNN model, which resolved which peak component were most suitable for selection or integration. Similarly, Melnikov

et al. proposed 'peakonly' algorithm [51] for both peak detection and integration that used a CNN model to classify raw LC-MS data into regions of noise, chemical peaks, and uncertain peaks, which was then used to determine peak boundaries for integration. Automated and high accuracy peak classifiers would greatly improve efficiency in these critical steps, which often heavily rely on domain experts.

Peak alignment is commonly performed to address retention time shift in MS methods employing chromatographic separations. Li and Wang et al. proposed ChromAlignNet [55], which uses LSTM network (a variant of recurrent neural network (RNN)) for peak alignment of GC-MS data. They showed that the algorithm performed well for the alignment of complex GC-MS data without the need for additional parameter selection and reference chromatograms. Discrimination of true chromatographic peaks from noise is particularly challenging. DL based peak filtering approaches seek to overcome the limitations of traditional methods for handling low signal to noise, diverse and irregular peak shapes and poor baseline resolution. For example, Kantz et al [56] used a CNN model to detect true spectral peaks vs. artifacts using stacked peak images of LC-MS chromatographic features as input data. This approach was shown to eliminate up to 90% of all false noise peaks. The versatility of DL models for encoding and modeling diverse forms of data have increased their adoption among the dominant metabolomics methods including LC-MS, GC-MS, and NMR.

Small molecule structure identification remains one of the biggest challenges in metabolomics (particularly for MS-based methods). Typically, retention time, accurate mass and mass spectra acquired from various analytical platforms are searched against reference databases [57–59] such as HMDB [60], METLIN [61] and MassBank [62] to name a few. Similarities between unknow and reference compounds' data are typically estimated based on correlation [63], weighted cosine similarity [64] and Euclidean distance^[65] which are used to rank the matching candidate hits ^[66]. This approach is limited by availability of known compounds and their spectral coverage in the reference databases [67]. Recently, Fan et. al. [68] used a CNN for identification of components in raw Raman spectra of mixtures without the need for any prior spectral processing which can otherwise introduce variability and errors. In another DL-based structure identification example, Fine et. al. [69] applied an autoencoder to calculate a lowerdimensional encoding of Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) and MS data together with multi-layered perceptron (MLP) to predict functional groups. A similar approach was used by Lim et. al. [68] to elucidate candidate structures using a CNN classifier to predict the presence/absence of substructures based on compounds' mass spectra and chemical formula. DeepMass, presented by Ji et. al. [59], addresses the limitation of availability of spectra in the reference databases by increasing the chance to identify unknown compounds by augmenting the search results based on structural similarity to related known metabolites. The developed method leverages structural similarity between biochemical reactant and product pairs' substructures and their resultant mass spectra [70]. The authors used KEGG substrate-product pair information to determine structural similarity scores between pairs of unknown-known metabolites (MASS score) from their MS/MS spectra. The authors then calculated fingerprint correlation score [71] (FP score), another structure similarity score for unknownknown structure matching, to compute the final list of putative compounds. Other studies, such as those from Allen et. al. [72] and Wei et. al. [73] attempted to increase spectral library coverage by predicting MS spectra for small molecules. Competitive Fragmentation Modeling-Electron Ionization (CFM-EI) [72] from Allen et al. used a probabilistic Markov model together with ANN to predict the tendency of bond breaking in a molecule and fragmentation likelihoods resulting in spectral peaks. Meanwhile, Wei et. al. [73] employed a MLP to predict MS spectra for small molecules. The input data for the bidirectional prediction model, Neural Electron-Ionization Mass Spectrometry (NEIMS) model, is the mapped additive Extended Circular Fingerprints (ECFPs), which capture local structures in the molecule [74] and the model output is a vector of intensity at all m/z bins.

ML algorithms including DNN models have also been used to predict collision cross section (CCS) value [57,67,75,76], a chemical property of ion separation that can be directly obtained from ion mobility-MS (IM-MS)[70]. The CCS is exploited to narrow down the search space for unknown compound identification [77]. Given that CCS information is still limited, Plante et. al. [67] proposed CNN-based model (DeepCCS) for predicting the CCS value of a compound given the simplified molecular-input line-entry system (SMILES) representation and the ion type. Colby et. al. [76] generated a model, DarkChem, built from a variational autoencoder (VAE) architecture for predicting *m*/*z* and CCS values of specified molecular structures, as well as computing possible structures from given chemical properties. The predicted CCS values can be used in addition to spectral database matching to increase confidence while performing compound matching [57,58].

5. Biological data interpretation & integration with other 'omics

Post data pre-processing, metabolomics data can be represented in a tabular format (e.g. samples as rows and measured metabolites as columns) making it amenable for a variety of downstream data analyses or ML tasks. For example, data normalization, outlier detection, missing values imputation and feature selection are a few common analyses often conducted prior to ML modeling [78]. Analyses specialized for metabolomics data often utilise information about the measured species' structural and or biochemical properties to improve the biological and systems biology interpretation of the results (e.g. pathway enrichment, structural similarity or biochemical precursor to product networks).

Metabolomics datasets are often 'wide' (i.e. samples \ll measurements) which poses significant challenge for ML applications which require abundant samples or representations for training and validation. For example, ML model validation often involves splitting the data representations into a training (used to build

model) and test (used to validate model performance) sets. Other challenges include many highly correlated variables which can be the outcome of linked biochemical processes, but pose challenges for predictive modeling (multicollinearity) which can make identification of important biomarkers (feature selection) less robust. Metabolomics specialized ML approaches include methods incorporating dimensional reduction (e.g. PCA) with classification or regression models (e.g. PLS-DA, OPLS, etc). However, these non-DL methods generally cannot model non-linear relationships and are highly sensitive to noise and outliers. Given enough representations, the expressivity of DL architectures can be used to build internal representations of the data which may lead to superior predictive performance compared to non-DL approaches.

Analysis requirements may encompass both supervised (regression and classification), semi-supervised (partially labeled data) and unsupervised (e.g. clustering) tasks. Supervised and semisupervised methods are used to predict known values (labels) such as sample groups (classification) or continuous values (regression) given samples' metabolic profiles. Unsupervised algorithms do not required labels and are instead used as unbiased methods to group (cluster) and explore the data. Herein, we present a few applications comparing binary (two-class) and multi-class classification, and regression using several types of DL models.

DL has not been shown to be superior to other ML methods for predictive modeling tasks in metabolomics. For example, two DL and six ML algorithms for binary classification across ten clinical metabolomics datasets were compared [79]. While DL-based predictions on test data yielded good to excellent classifier performances, no single DL or ML algorithm could be identified as superior [79]. In another study, Bahado-Singh and colleagues evaluated the application of DL techniques to amniotic fluid metabolomics and proteomics alone and in combination with sonographic, clinical and demographic information to predict obstetric outcomes in asymptomatic pregnant women with short cervical lengths [80]. The authors further compared classifier performance derived from DL to that of six commonly used ML techniques. Higher area under the receiver-operating characteristic curve (AUC) point estimates were consistently achieved with DL in comparison with that of the other ML methods [80]. A third study examined the accuracy of feed-forward networks, a type of DL framework, as well as six widely used ML models to predict ER status based on a publicly available metabolomics data set [81]. The DL framework yielded the highest AUC point estimate for classifying ER+/ER- subjects based on metabolomics data compared to that of the other six ML algorithms. Importantly, biological interpretation of the first hidden layer identified by the DL framework revealed enrichment of eight cancer-relevant metabolic pathways that were not identified through the conventional ML algorithms [81]. Although the authors caution that the classifier performance of the DL method was very sensitive to sample size and discretion should be used when applying DL methods to small sample sets [81]. Wang and colleagues utilised SMARTS-encoded metabolic reaction rules to extract molecular fingerprints and, using these fingerprints, employed DL algorithms to interrogate drug metabolism and predict those biochemical reactions that are most likely to occur [82]. Performance of the DL algorithm was additionally compared against the rule-based method SyGMa [83]. In the test set, the DL algorithm achieved an accuracy of 78% for the top-10 common metabolic reactions, which was substantially improved relative to the SyGMa method (accuracy of 70%).

Only one study used DL in multi-class classification for classifying three types of heart disease, adenocarcinoma status, and three polymorphisms of NOS1AP genes from untargeted GS-/LC-MS data [84]. In this study, DL was no better than convention ML methods [84]. For linear regression, one study used an ensemble DNN approach to predict fish size from metabolites measured by NMR [85]. Like the aforementioned study, using DL-based regression to model the relationship between fish sizes and their metabolic profiles yielded a model with comparable performance to that of a traditional ML, Random Forest (RF) model, [85]. These authors note, however, that disparity in DL model performance could be due to the simplicity of the DL architectures used to analyze heterogeneous and complex data or due to limitations in sample numbers which were required for the neural network to separate the signal from the noise.

6. Future perspectives and beyond

6.1. Data integration applications are still lacking

Despite several publications on multi-omics data integration using deep learning [86,87], there are only two studies which we could identify that directly combined metabolomics with other omics data. The first study aggregated temporal proteomics and metabolomics data of cardiovascular mouse models, and then used DL-based clustering methods to identify biologically relevant clusters of metabolites that linked to the conditions [88]. The second study integrated a large compendium of multi-omics data from E. coli to predict its cellular state. While a myriad of DL methods have been proposed as candidates for multi-omics data integration [89], few metabolomics data sets have been successfully incorporated into the models. The reasons for this deficiency may include a lack of data availability, especially human-centric data. For comparison, Sequence Read Archive (SRA) database, a repository for next-generation sequencing data, has \sim 1,000 human-related studies [90], whereas Metabolomics Workbench database has 68 human-related projects [91]. Ultimately, this might be due to different cost structures between genomics [92] and metabolomics [93,94], as well as lack of interdisciplinary research opportunities among deep learning practitioners, metabolomics experts, and other omics scientists [93].

6.2. Dealing with the curse of dimensionality

Low numbers of samples compared to many measured features leads to the curse of dimensionality, where predictive models can be overfitted and are not able to generalise to other data sets [22,95]. A few methods that can overcome this limitation include data augmentation and weight sharing (Fig. 2A). For example, a study employed data augmentation, where original near infrared spectra were modified by adding random variations in offset, slope, and multiplication to improve robustness of the neural network models [96]. Another study introduced a concept called weight sharing, where two or more data sets are subjected to the same CNN architecture without resizing dimensions of one data set to fit the other, and the weights are shared during the training process [97]. Other methods have also been specifically designed for high dimensional low sample size data (HDLSS). For example, the Deep Neural Pursuit model designed specifically for genomics data. can be used for feature selection from a subset of samples combined with multiple dropouts technique [98] to reduce overfitting which may also benefit modeling of metabolomics data.

6.3. Specialized models for metabolomics data are needed

Compared to genomics, DL applications in metabolomics lack custom features that take advantage of specific properties of metabolomics data. Several comprehensive reviews of DL in genomics and proteomics showed well-defined problem statements and methods, which utilised unique approaches purposefully built for genomics applications [86,87]. Such examples in genomics are CNN models for DNA/RNA binding motif prediction [99,100] and functional non-coding sequence variant prediction [101]. These



Fig. 2. A) Combination of data augmentation and weight sharing from different studies can alleviate dimensionality problem in metabolomics. B) Biological data interpretation could benefit from non-image data conversion to leverage the power of CNN architecture. C) Model evaluation should employ nested cross-validation instead of conventional k-fold cross validation.

methods employed a strategy that converts DNA/RNA sequences into one-hot encoded representations that are suitable for CNN architecture. Protein contact map prediction also benefited from the strategy previously described, where protein sequence and predicted structure profiles (α -helix, β -strand, and loop region) are transformed by one-dimensional (1D) CNN to twodimensional (2D) matrix, and then parsed to 2D CNN. DL analysis in metabolomics, especially biological interpretation, could benefit from a similar strategy, by converting non-image data to imagelike data which is suitable for CNN [102] (Fig. 2B).

6.4. Re-evaluating model validation

Model accuracy and generalisability are often major priorities for ML applications. However, even with data augmentation and multiple data sets integration, compared to other domains, metabolomics data still lacks the sheer number of samples used in standard machine learning applications [103]. Even some of the standard techniques used for model validation such as *k*-fold cross-validation [43,104] may not be applicable for HDLSS metabolomics data. For example, some studies cautioned that random data splitting techniques like *k*-fold cross-validation might yield overfit and unstable models [79] from HDLSS data. To address this issue, researchers have developed an alternative technique called nested cross-validation [105] (Fig. 2C). A recent simulation study showed that models trained with nested cross-validation yielded unbiased performance even with small sample sizes [106].

In conclusion, DL is starting to make a significant impact on metabolomics data processing and analysis pipelines. The application of DL in both NMR- and MS-based metabolomics is expected to grow rapidly as the metabolomics community begins to implement and develop novel DL architectures specific to metabolomics data applications.

7. Key points

- While machine learning has been used in metabolomics for decades, the application of artificial neural networks and particularly deep learning has only recently emerged.
- Deep learning has been most widely applied in data preprocessing and convolutional neural networks are the most commonly used model architecture.
- Development of deep learning applications specifically for metabolomics is not as mature as that for other omics domains such as genomics.

Acknowledgements

We appreciate constructive discussion with Dr Krittima Anekthanakul and Dr Kassaporn Duangkumpha. YP is supported by Chulabhorn Research Institute internal research grant. SK is partly supported by Thailand Research Fund (MRG6280206), Chalermphrakiat Grant, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University. This research project is supported by Mahidol University. The Center of Excellence for Innovation in Chemistry (PERCH-CIC), Ministry of Higher Education, Science, Research and Innovation Thailand, is gratefully acknowledged.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.09.033.

References

- [1] Grapov D et al. Rise of Deep Learning for Genomic, Proteomic, and Metabolomic Data Integration in Precision Medicine. OMICS 2018;22 (10):630–6.
- [2] Cambiaghi A, Ferrario M, Masseroli M. Analysis of metabolomic data: tools, current strategies and future challenges for omics data integration. Briefings Bioinf 2016;18(3):498–510.
- [3] Smith R, Ventura D, Prince JT. LC-MS alignment in theory and practice: a comprehensive algorithmic review. Briefings Bioinf 2013;16(1):104–17.
- [4] Alonso A, Marsal S, Julià A. Analytical methods in untargeted metabolomics: state of the art in 2015. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 2015;3:23.
- [5] Nguyen DH, Nguyen CH, Mamitsuka H. Recent advances and prospects of computational methods for metabolite identification: a review with emphasis on machine learning approaches. Briefings Bioinf 2018;20(6):2028–43.
- [6] Puchades-Carrasco L et al. Bioinformatics tools for the analysis of NMR metabolomics studies focused on the identification of clinically relevant biomarkers. Briefings Bioinf 2015;17(3):541–52.
- [7] Basheer IA, Hajmeer M. Artificial neural networks: fundamentals, computing, design, and application. J Microbiol Methods 2000;43(1):3–31.
- [8] Abadi, M., et al. Tensorflow: A system for large-scale machine learning. in 12th {USENIX} Symposium on Operating Systems Design and Implementation ({OSDI} 16). 2016.
- [9] Rampasek L, Goldenberg A. TensorFlow: Biology's Gateway to Deep Learning? Cell Systems 2016;2(1):12–4.
- [10] Chollet, F., Keras. 2015, GitHub.
- [11] Paszke A et al. PyTorch: An Imperative Style, High-Performance Deep Learning Library. In: Wallach H, editor. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 32. Inc: Curran Associates; 2019. p. 8024–35.
- [12] Chollet, F., Deep Learning with Python. 2017: Manning Publications Co.
- [13] Chollet, F. and J.J. Allaire, Deep Learning with R. 2018: Manning Publications Co.
- [14] Kim, P., MATLAB Deep Learning: With Machine Learning, Neural Networks and Artificial Intelligence. 2017: Apress.
- [15] Jackovich, J. and R. Richards, Machine Learning with AWS: Explore the power of cloud services for your machine learning and artificial intelligence projects. 2018: Packt Publishing.
- [16] Ciaburro G, Ayyadevara VK, Perrier A. Hands-On Machine Learning on Google Cloud Platform: Implementing smart and efficient analytics using Cloud ML Engine. Packt Publishing; 2018.
- [17] Salvaris, M., D. Dean, and W.H. Tok, Deep Learning with Azure: Building and Deploying Artificial Intelligence Solutions on the Microsoft AI Platform. 2018: Apress.
- [18] Andrews R, Diederich J, Tickle AB. Survey and critique of techniques for extracting rules from trained artificial neural networks. Knowl-Based Syst 1995;8(6):373–89.
- [19] Jain AK, Jianchang M, Mohiuddin KM. Artificial neural networks: a tutorial. Computer 1996;29(3):31–44.
- [20] Bengio Y. Learning Deep Architectures for AI. Found. Trends Mach. Learn. 2009;2(1):1–127.
- [21] Lee MY, Hu T. Computational Methods for the Discovery of Metabolic Markers of Complex Traits. Metabolites 2019;9(4).
- [22] Mendez KM, Broadhurst DI, Reinke SN. The application of artificial neural networks in metabolomics: a historical perspective. Metabolomics 2019;15 (11):142.
- [23] Team, T.T.D., et al., Theano: A Python framework for fast computation of mathematical expressions. arXiv preprint arXiv:1605.02688, 2016.
- [24] PlaidML PlaidML: A platform for making deep learning work everywhere. 2020; Available from: https://github.com/plaidml/plaidml.
- [25] Van Rossum G, Drake Jr FL. Centrum voor Wiskunde en Informatica Amsterdam. Python reference manual. 1995.
- [26] Team, R.C., R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. 2020, R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria.
- [27] MathWorks, I., MATLAB version 7.10.0 (R2010a). 2010, Natick, Massachusetts: The MathWorks Inc.
- [28] . Scalable Machine Learning Platform. 2020.
- [29] Chen, T., et al., Mxnet: A flexible and efficient machine learning library for heterogeneous distributed systems. arXiv preprint arXiv:1512.01274, 2015.
- [30] MathWorks I, MATLAB, Deep Learning Toolbox. 2020.
 [31] Agarap AF. Deep learning using rectified linear units (relu). arXiv preprint
- arXiv:1803.08375 2018. [32] Nwankpa, C., et al., Activation functions: Comparison of trends in practice and research for deep learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.03378, 2018.
- [33] Wishart DS. Emerging applications of metabolomics in drug discovery and precision medicine. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2016;15(7):473–84.
- [34] Emwas A-H et al. NMR Spectroscopy for Metabolomics Research. Metabolites 2019;9(7):123.
- [35] Ebbels TMD, Karaman I, Graca G. Processing and Analysis of Untargeted Multicohort NMR Data. Methods Mol Biol 2019;2037:453-70.
- [36] Pathmasiri W et al. Analysis of NMR Metabolomics Data. Methods Mol Biol 2020;2104:61–97.
- [37] Delaglio F et al. Non-Uniform Sampling for All: More NMR Spectral Quality, Less Measurement Time. Am Pharm Rev 2017;20(4).
- [38] Mahrous EA, Farag MA. Two dimensional NMR spectroscopic approaches for exploring plant metabolome: A review. J Adv Res 2015;6(1):3–15.

- [39] Cobas C. NMR signal processing, prediction, and structure verification with machine learning techniques. Magn Reson Chem 2020.
- [40] Hansen DF. Using Deep Neural Networks to Reconstruct Non-uniformly Sampled NMR Spectra. J Biomol NMR 2019;73(10–11):577–85.
- [41] Qu X et al. Accelerated Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy with Deep Learning. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 2019.
- [42] Khoomrung S et al. Metabolomics and Integrative Omics for the Development of Thai Traditional Medicine. Front Pharmacol 2017;8(474).
- [43] Wanichthanarak K et al. Accounting for biological variation with linear mixed-effects modelling improves the quality of clinical metabolomics data. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2019;17:611–8.
- [44] Katajamaa M, Oresic M. Data processing for mass spectrometry-based metabolomics. J Chromatogr A 2007;1158(1-2):318-28.
- [45] Smith CA et al. XCMS: Processing Mass Spectrometry Data for Metabolite Profiling Using Nonlinear Peak Alignment, Matching, and Identification. Anal Chem 2006;78(3):779–87.
- [46] Boccard J, Veuthey J-L, Rudaz S. Knowledge discovery in metabolomics: An overview of MS data handling. J Sep Sci 2010;33(3):290–304.
- [47] Pluskal T et al. MZmine 2: Modular framework for processing, visualizing, and analyzing mass spectrometry-based molecular profile data. BMC Bioinf 2010;11(1):395.
- [48] Wehrens R, Weingart G, Mattivi F. metaMS: An open-source pipeline for GC-MS-based untargeted metabolomics. J Chromatogr B 2014;966:109–16.
- [49] Lommen A, Kools HJ. MetAlign 3.0: performance enhancement by efficient use of advances in computer hardware. Metabolomics : Official journal of the Metabolomic Society 2012;8(4):719–26.
- [50] Johnsen LG et al. Gas chromatography mass spectrometry data processing made easy. J Chromatogr A 2017;1503:57–64.
- [51] Melnikov AD, Tsentalovich YP, Vanshole VV. Deep Learning for the Precise Peak Detection in High-Resolution LC-MS Data. Anal Chem 2020;92 (1):588–92.
- [52] Koh Y et al. Comparative evaluation of software for retention time alignment of gas chromatography/time-of-flight mass spectrometry-based metabonomic data. J Chromatogr A 2010;1217(52):8308–16.
- [53] Risum AB, Bro R. Using deep learning to evaluate peaks in chromatographic data. Talanta 2019;204:255–60.
- [54] Bro R, Andersson CA, Kiers HAL. PARAFAC2-Part II. Modeling chromatographic data with retention time shifts. J Chemom 1999;13(3-4):295-309.
- [55] Li M, Wang XR. Peak alignment of gas chromatography-mass spectrometry data with deep learning. J Chromatogr A 2019;1604:460476.
- [56] Kantz ED et al. Deep Neural Networks for Classification of LC-MS Spectral Peaks. Anal Chem 2019;91(19):12407–13.
- [57] Zhou Z et al. Large-Scale Prediction of Collision Cross-Section Values for Metabolites in Ion Mobility-Mass Spectrometry. Anal Chem 2016;88 (22):11084–91.
- [58] Hall LM et al. Development of a Reverse Phase HPLC Retention Index Model for Nontargeted Metabolomics Using Synthetic Compounds. J Chem Inf Model 2018;58(3):591–604.
- [59] Ji H et al. Deep MS/MS-Aided Structural-Similarity Scoring for Unknown Metabolite Identification. Anal Chem 2019;91(9):5629–37.
- [60] Wishart DS et al. HMDB 4.0: the human metabolome database for 2018. Nucleic Acids Res 2018;46(D1):D608–17.
- [61] Guijas C et al. METLIN: A Technology Platform for Identifying Knowns and Unknowns. Anal Chem 2018;90(5):3156–64.
- [62] Horai H et al. MassBank: a public repository for sharing mass spectral data for life sciences. J Mass Spectrom 2010;45(7):703–14.
- [63] Kim S, Zhang X. Comparative analysis of mass spectral similarity measures on peak alignment for comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography mass spectrometry. Comput Math Methods Med 2013;2013:509761.
- [64] Stein SE, Scott DR. Optimization and testing of mass spectral library search algorithms for compound identification. J Am Soc Mass Spectrom 1994;5 (9):859-66.
- [65] Mass Spectral Search and Analysis Using the Golm Metabolome Database, in The Handbook of Plant Metabolomics. p. 321-343.
- [66] Fan X et al. Deep learning-based component identification for the Raman spectra of mixtures. Analyst 2019;144(5):1789–98.
- [67] Plante P-L et al. Predicting Ion Mobility Collision Cross-Sections Using a Deep Neural Network: DeepCCS. Anal Chem 2019;91(8):5191–9.
- [68] Jing Lim JW. Minn Xuan Wong, Len Han Eric Tan, Hai Leong Chieu, Davin Choo. Neng Kai Nigel Neo: Chemical Structure Elucidation from Mass Spectrometry by Matching Substructures. arXiv.org; 2018.
- [69] Fine JA et al. Spectral deep learning for prediction and prospective validation of functional groups. Chem Sci 2020.
- [70] Blaženović I et al. Software Tools and Approaches for Compound Identification of LC-MS/MS Data in Metabolomics. Metabolites 2018;8(2):31.
- [71] Giri V et al. RxnSim: a tool to compare biochemical reactions. Bioinformatics 2015;31(22):3712–4.
- [72] Allen F et al. Computational Prediction of Electron Ionization Mass Spectra to Assist in GC/MS Compound Identification. Anal Chem 2016;88(15):7689–97.

Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 18 (2020) 2818-2825

- [73] Wei JN et al. Rapid Prediction of Electron-Ionization Mass Spectrometry Using Neural Networks. ACS Cent Sci 2019;5(4):700–8.
- [74] Rogers D, Hahn M. Extended-Connectivity Fingerprints. J Chem Inf Model 2010;50(5):742–54.
- [75] Zhou Z et al. LipidCCS: Prediction of Collision Cross-Section Values for Lipids with High Precision To Support Ion Mobility-Mass Spectrometry-Based Lipidomics. Anal Chem 2017;89(17):9559–66.
- [76] Colby SM et al. Deep Learning to Generate in Silico Chemical Property Libraries and Candidate Molecules for Small Molecule Identification in Complex Samples. Anal Chem 2020;92(2):1720–9.
- [77] Picache JA et al. Collision cross section compendium to annotate and predict multi-omic compound identities. Chem Sci 2019;10(4):983–93.
- [78] Alexandropoulos S-AN, Kotsiantis SB, Vrahatis MN. Data preprocessing in predictive data mining. The Knowledge Engineering Review 2019;34:e1.
- [79] Mendez KM, Reinke SN, Broadhurst DI. A comparative evaluation of the generalised predictive ability of eight machine learning algorithms across ten clinical metabolomics data sets for binary classification. Metabolomics 2019;15(12):150.
- [80] Bahado-Singh RO et al. Artificial intelligence and amniotic fluid multiomics: prediction of perinatal outcome in asymptomatic women with short cervix. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2019;54(1):110–8.
- [81] Alakwaa FM, Chaudhary K, Garmire LX. Deep Learning Accurately Predicts Estrogen Receptor Status in Breast Cancer Metabolomics Data. J Proteome Res 2018;17(1):337–47.
- [82] Wang D et al. Deep Learning Based Drug Metabolites Prediction. Front Pharmacol 2020;10(1586).
- [83] Ridder L, Wagener M. SyGMa: Combining Expert Knowledge and Empirical Scoring in the Prediction of Metabolites. ChemMedChem 2008;3(5):821–32.
- [84] Trainor PJ, DeFilippis AP, Rai SN. Evaluation of Classifier Performance for Multiclass Phenotype Discrimination in Untargeted Metabolomics. Metabolites 2017;7(2).
- [85] Asakura T, Date Y, Kikuchi J. Application of ensemble deep neural network to metabolomics studies. Anal Chim Acta 2018;1037:230–6.
- [86] Ching T et al. Opportunities and obstacles for deep learning in biology and medicine. J R Soc Interface 2018;15(141):20170387.
- [87] Eraslan G et al. Deep learning: new computational modelling techniques for genomics. Nat Rev Genet 2019;20(7):389–403.
- [88] Chung NC et al. Unsupervised classification of multi-omics data during cardiac remodeling using deep learning. Methods 2019;166:66–73.
- [89] Li Y, Wu FX, Ngom A. A review on machine learning principles for multi-view biological data integration. Brief Bioinform 2018;19(2):325–40.
- [90] . Sequence Read Archive. 2020 [cited 2020 29 April]; Available from:.
- [91] San UC, Diego UCSD, Metabolomics, Workbench. 2020 [cited 2020 29 April];
- Available from:.
 [92] Wetterstrand, K. DNA Sequencing Costs: Data from the NHGRI Genome Sequencing Program (GSP). 2020 [cited 2020 29 April]; Available from: https://www.genome.gov/sequencingcostsdata.
- [93] Pinu FR, Goldansaz SA, Jaine J. Translational Metabolomics: Current Challenges and Future Opportunities. Metabolites 2019;9(6):108.
- [94] Pinu FR et al. Systems Biology and Multi-Omics Integration: Viewpoints from the Metabolomics Research Community. Metabolites 2019;9(4):76.
- [95] Breiman L. Statistical Modeling: The Two Cultures. Statistical Science 2001;16 (3):199–231.
- [96] Bjerrum, E.J., M. Glahder, and T. Skov, Data augmentation of spectral data for convolutional neural network (CNN) based deep chemometrics. arXiv preprint arXiv:1710.01927, 2017.
- [97] Larsen, J.S. and L. Clemmensen, Deep learning for Chemometric and nontranslational data. arXiv preprint arXiv:1910.00391, 2019.
- [98] Liu B et al. Deep Neural Networks for High Dimension. Low Sample Size Data. 2017.
- [99] Alipanahi B et al. Predicting the sequence specificities of DNA- and RNAbinding proteins by deep learning. Nat Biotechnol 2015;33(8):831–8.[100] Zhou J, Troyanskaya OG. Predicting effects of noncoding variants with deep
- [100] Zhou J, Troyanskaya OG. Predicting effects of noncoding variants with deep learning-based sequence model. Nat Methods 2015;12(10):931–4.
- [101] Kelley DR, Snoek J, Rinn JL. Basset: learning the regulatory code of the accessible genome with deep convolutional neural networks. Genome Res 2016;26(7):990–9.
- [102] Sharma A et al. DeepInsight: A methodology to transform a non-image data to an image for convolution neural network architecture. Sci Rep 2019;9 (1):11399.
- [103] Beleites C et al. Sample size planning for classification models. Anal Chim Acta 2013;760:25–33.
- [104] Burman P. A comparative study of ordinary cross-validation, v-fold crossvalidation and the repeated learning-testing methods. Biometrika 1989;76 (3):503–14.
- [105] Varma S, Simon R. Bias in error estimation when using cross-validation for model selection. BMC Bioinf 2006;7(1):91.
- [106] Vabalas A et al. Machine learning algorithm validation with a limited sample size. PLoS ONE 2019;14(11):e0224365.